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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
the STATE OF MINNESOTA

Plaintiffs,

SOUTHERN MINNESOTA BEET

)
)
)
)
)
V. ) Civil Action No.
;
SUGAR COOPERATIVE )

)

)

Defendant

COMPLAINT

The United States of America, by the authority of the Attorney General of the United
States and through its undersigned attorneys, acting at the request of the United States
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), and the State of Minnesota, by authority of its
Attorney General and on behalf of the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (“MPCA™), file this
complaint and allege as follows:

NATURE OF ACTION

1. This is a civil action for penalties, restitution, and injunctive relief brought against
Defendant Southern Minnesota Beet Sugar Cooperative (“SMB”) pursuant to the Clean Water
Act (“CWA?”), 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq., as amended.

JURISDICTION, VENUE, AUTHORITY, AND NOTICE

2. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28
U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1355 and CWA Section 309(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b). The State isa
party to this action pursuant to CWA Section 309(e), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(¢), and 28 U.S.C.
§ 1367(a).
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3. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the State law claims alleged herein
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) because the State claims are related to the federal claims and
form the same case or controversy.

4. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and 1395 and
CWA Section 309(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), because the defendant is located in this District and
the violations alleged herein arose in this District.

5. As a signatory to this Complaint, the State has actual notice of the
commencement of this action in accordance with CWA Section 309(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

6. The United States Department of Justice has authority to bring this action on
behalf of the Administrator of the EPA pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 516 and 519.

7. The Minnesota Attorney General’s Office has authority to bring this action on
behalf of MPCA pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 115.071.

THE PARTIES

8. Plaintiffs are the United States, on behalf of EPA, and the State of Minnesota, on

behalf of MPCA.

9. Defendant SMB is organized as a cooperative under the laws of and does business|
in the State of Minnesota.

10.  Atall relevant times hereto, SMB owned and operated a sugar beet processing
facility located near the town of Renville in Renville County, Minnesota (the “Facility”).

11.  SMB is a “person” within the meaning of CWA Section 502(5), 33 U.S.C.
§ 1362(5).

FEDERAL AND STATE STATUTES AND REGULATIONS

12. CWA Section 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the discharge of any
pollutant by any person except, inter alia, in compliance with a National Pollutant Discharge
Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit issued by EPA or an authorized state pursuant to CWA
Section 402, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.

13.  CWA Section 402(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a), provides that EPA may issue NPDES
permits that authorize the discharge of any pollutant to navigable waters, upon the condition that
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such discharge will meet certain specific requirements of the CWA or such other conditions as
EPA determines necessary to carry out the provisions of the CWA. In addition, EPA may
prescribe conditions pertaining to test procedures, data and information collection, reporting, and
such other requirements as deemed appropriate by EPA.

14.  CWA Section 402(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b), provides that a state may establish and
administer its own permit program, and, after EPA authorizes the state’s program, it may also
issue NPDES permits.

15.  On June 30, 1974, pursuant to CWA Section 402(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b), EPA
delegated the administration of the federal NPDES permit program to the State of Minnesota for
discharges into the navigable waters within its jurisdiction.

16.  Minn. Stat. §115.07 (2012) prohibits the operation of a disposal system, which is
a system for disposing of sewage, industrial waste and other wastes, and includes sewer systems
and treatment works, without a written permit from the MPCA.

17.  Minn. R. 7001.1030 (2013) provides that “no person may discharge a pollutant
from a point source into the water of the state without obtaining a national pollutant discharge
elimination system permit from the agency.”

18.  Notwithstanding the delegation of NPDES permitting authority to a state under
CWA Section 402(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b), EPA retains the authority to commence a civil action
for appropriate relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction, when any person violates,
among other things, CWA Section 301, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, or violates any of the terms or
conditions of a NPDES permit. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b).

19. CWA Section 309(d), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), provides that any person who violates
Section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, or who violates any condition or limitation of a
NPDES permit issued pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, shall be subject to
the civil penalties not to exceed $25,000 per day for each violation. The Civil Penalties Inflation
Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461 ef seq., as amended by the Debt Collection Improvements Act of
1996, 31 U.S.C. § 3701 e seq., requires EPA to periodically adjust its civil penalties for

inflation. On December 11, 2008, EPA adopted and revised regulations entitled “Adjustment of
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Civil Monetary Penalties for Inflation,” 40 C.F.R. Part 19, to upwardly adjust the maximum civil
penalty under the CWA. For each violation that occurs on and after January 13, 2009, penalties
of up to $37,500 per day may be assessed. 73 F.R. 75340 (December 11, 2008).

20.  Minn. Stat. § 115.071 (2012) provides that “any person who violates any
provision of this chapter . . . or of (1) any effluent standard and limitation or water quality
standards, (2) any permit or term or condition thereof . . . shall forfeit and pay to the state a

penalty, in an amount to be determined by the court, of not more than $10,000 per day of

violation . . .”
GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
The Facility
21.  SMB is a farmer-owned cooperative that processes millions of tons of sugar beets

grown annually by the member farmers into granulated sugars and other sugar products.

22.  The Facility consists of 11 remote beet stockpile sites, where the beets are
collected and stored until they are processed, and the Factory Site, where the beets are actually
processed.

23.  Atall times relevant to this Complaint, the Factory Site included the processing
plant, six wastewater storage ponds (“Ponds 1-6”), stormwater ponds, the Waste Water
Treatment Plant (“WWTP”), and land application parcels.

24.  The processing plant is where SMB processes the beets into granulated sugar and
various other sugar products. The processing plant generates most of the wastewater at the
Facility. The remainder of the wastewater is contaminated stormwater runoff,

25. SMB stores the wastewater in wastewater storage ponds prior to treatment at the
on-site WWTP,

26.  The stormwater ponds collect the stormwater runoff from the Facility. The
stormwater collects in various ditches and then flows into the ponds. At all times relevant to this

Complaint, the northernmost stormwater pond was commonly known as “Tanner’s Pond.”
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27.  SMB disposes of some of its treated and untreated wastewater through spray
irrigation on adjacent land application parcels and some treated wastewater through surface
water discharges.

28.  SMB’s spray irrigation and surface water discharges are governed by its NPDES
Permit.

SMB’s NPDES/SDS Permit
29.  Under the authority of CWA Section 402(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b), the State of

Minnesota issued SMB NPDES/State Disposal System (“SDS”) Permit MN0040665 on
December 29, 2004 (the “Permit). Among other things, the Permit establishes effluent limits and
other limitations on discharges to surface water and land application parcels.

30.  Although the expiration date of the Permit is listed as November 30, 2009, SMB
submitted a timely permit renewal application prior to that date. Therefore, the Permit remains
in effect pending MPCA’s review of SMB’s permit renewal application, in accordance with
Permit Chapter 12, Section 17 and Minnesota Administrative Rule 7001.0160. The Permit has
remained in effect at all relevant times to this Complaint.

31.  All discharges of wastewater from the Facility are regulated by SMB’s Permit.

32.  Relevant to this Complaint are the Facility’s four outfalls: SD001, SD009, SD003,
and SD004. The Permit authorized discharges only through these outfalls.

33.  Under its Permit, SMB may discharge only non-contact cooling water
(uncontaminated wastewater) from SD001,

34, Under its Permit, SMB is authorized to discharge treated wastewater through
outfall SDO09 (formerly “SD005”), to County Ditch 45 (“*CD 45”). CD 45 flows to Sacred Heart
Creek and then to the Minnesota River.

35.  Under its Permit, SMB is authorized to discharge treated wastewater from two of
its land application parcels through outfalls SD003 and SD004 to County Ditch 37 (“CD 37”).
CD 37 flows to the West Fork of Beaver Creek and then to the Minnesota River.

36. The Permit does not allow SMB to discharge untreated wastewater to CD 37 or

CD 45 at any time.
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37.  Chapter 12, Section 11.11 of the Permit contains freeboard storage limits for the
six wastewater storage ponds at the Facility. It requires SMB to maintain at least 2-feet
freeboard on all wastewater and wastewater containment dams at the facility, except that ponds 5
and 6 shall maintain 3-feet of freeboard.

38.  Chapter 3, Section 2.1 of the Permit allows discharges of treated wastewater
through SD009 into CD 45 exclusively during the period between September 1 and March 31.
During this time, SMB is permitted to discharge at a rate of up to 3.5 cubic feet per second
(“cfs”™).

39.  The Limits and Monitoring Requirements of the Permit prohibit spray irrigation
from November 1 through March 31.

40.  Chapter 9, Section 1.2 of the Permit prohibits stormwater discharges from the
Facility, except for the stormwater that SMB treats at its wastewater treatment plant and
discharges through SD009. Chapter 9, Section 2.1 defines “stormwater” as “stormwater runoff,
snow melt runoff, and surface runoff and drainage.”

4]. Chapter 12, Section 11.2 of the Permit requires SMB to ensure system reliability
at Tanner’s Pond and requires the “install[ation] of adequate backup or support system to achieve
permit compliance and prevent the discharge of untreated or inadequately treated waste. These
systems may include alternative power sources, in-line monitoring devices, auxiliary treatment
works and sufficient storage volume for untreated wastes.”

42.  The Limits and Monitoring Requirements of the Permit require SMB to limit the
daily maximum discharge of carbonaceous biochemical oxygen demand (“CBOD”) to 25 mg/L
at SD003 and SD004.

43.  The Limits and Monitoring Requirements of the Permit require SMB to limit the
calendar month maximum discharge of fecal coliform (“Fecal Coliform, MPN or Membrane
Filter 44.5C”) to 400 CFU/100 ml at SD009 for September and October.

44.  The Limits and Monitoring Requirements of the Permit requires SMB to limit the

calendar month average for total chloride to 230 mg/1 at SD009.
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Violations of Permit Freeboard Limits)

45.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1-44 as if fully set
forth herein.

46. Between March 30, 2010 and June 5, 2010, SMB stored water in excess of
freeboard limits in Ponds 1, 2, and/or 3 on at least 61 separate days, in violation of Chapter 12,
Section 11.11 of the Permit.

47, Between March 30, 2010 and July 15, 2010, SMB stored water in excess of
freeboard limits in Ponds 5 and 6 on at least 97 separate days, in violation of Chapter 12,
Section 11.11 of the Permit.

48. SMB also stored water in excess of freeboard limits in Pond 2 on November 6,
2009; Pond 1 on September 23, 2010; Pond 3 on July 1, 2011; and in Ponds 5 and 6 on
March 31, 2011, in violation of Chapter 12, Section 11.11 of the Permit.

49.  Each one of SMB’s permit violations constitutes a violation of the CWA.

50.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties pursuant to Section 309(d) of
the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, of up to $37,500
per day for each violation on and after January 13, 2009.

51.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties under Minn, Stat. § 115.071 of
up to $10,000 per day.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Discharges outside the Permitted Time Period)

52.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1-44 as if fully set
forth herein.

53.  In April 2010, SMB discharged treated wastewater through SD009 on 25 separate
days outside the permitted period, in violation of Chapter 3, Section 2.1 of the Permit.

54,  Each one of SMB’s permit violations constitutes a violation of the CWA.
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55.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties pursuant to Section 309(d) of
the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, of up to $37,500
per day for each violation on and after January 13, 2009.

56.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties under Minn. Stat. § 115.071 of
up to $10,000 per day.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Discharge of Wastewater in Excess of Permitted Daily Volume Limits)

57.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1-44 as if fully set
forth herein.

58.  Between November 7, 2009 and October 2, 2011, SMB discharged wastewater
through SD009 at a rate greater than 3.5 cfs on each of 96 separate days in violation of rate limits|
imposed on the Facility under the Permit.

59.  Each one of SMB’s permit violations constitutes a violation of the CWA.

60. Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties pursuant to Section 309(d) of
the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, of up to $37,500
per day for each violation on and after January 13, 2009.

61.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties under Minn. Stat. § 115.071 of
up to $10,000 per day.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Spray Irrigation outside the Permitted Time Period)

62.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1-44 as if fully set
forth herein.

63. SMB spray irrigated wastewater on 18 separate days in November 2009 and 2010
in violation of the spray irrigation prohibition in the Permit from November 1 through March 31.

64.  Each one of SMB’s permit violations constitutes a violation of the CWA.

65. Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties pursuant to Section 309(d) of
the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, of up to $37,500
per day for each violation on and after January 13, 2009.

8
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66.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties under Minn. Stat. § 115.071 of

up to $10,000 per day.
FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Discharges of Untreated Stormwater from Tanner’s Pond)

67.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1-44 as if fully set
forth herein.

68. On August 13, 2010, September 16, 2010, and September 23, 2010, Tanner’s
Pond backed up or overflowed and discharged untreated stormwater directly to County Ditch 37,
in violation of Chapter 9, Section 1.2 of the Permit.

69.  Each one of SMB’s permit violations constitutes a violation of the CWA.

70.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties pursuant to Section 309(d) of
the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, of up to $37,500
per day for each violation on and after January 13, 2009.

71.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties under Minn. Stat. § 115.071 of
up to $10,000 per day.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Operation and Maintenance Violations Related to Tanner’s Pond Discharges)

72.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1-44 as if fully set
forth herein.

73.  During the August 13, 2010 discharge, a thunderstorm and lightning strike
disabled SMB’s pumps. SMB did not install or have adequate backup or support systems to
achieve permit compliance and prevent the discharge of untreated or inadequately treated waste,
in violation of Chapter 12, Section 11.2 of the Permit.

74. During the September 16, 2010 discharge, the operating pump at Tanner’s Pond
malfunctioned. SMB did not install or have adequate backup or support systems to achieve
permit compliance and prevent the discharge of untreated or inadequately treated waste, in

violation of Chapter 12, Section 1 1.2 of the Permit.
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75.  During the September 23, 2010 discharge, a thunderstorm caused precipitation

that overwhelmed the capacity of the pumps operating at Tanner’s Pond. SMB did not install or
have adequate backup or support systems to achieve permit compliance and prevent the
discharge of untreated or inadequately treated waste, in violation of Chapter 12, Section 11.2 of
the Permit.

76.  Each one of SMB’s permit violations constitutes a violation of the CWA.

77.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties pursuant to Section 309(d) of
the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, of up to $37,500
per day for each violation on and after January 13, 2009.

78.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties under Minn. Stat. § 115.071 of
up to $10,000 per day.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of Permit Effluent Limitations)

79.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1-44 as if fully set

forth herein.

80.  In August 2009, May and June 2011, July and September 2013, and April, May,
and June 2015, on at least 91 separate days, SMB discharged effluent through SD004 with a
CBQOD greater than the daily maximum of 25 mg/L in violation of the Permit.

81.  InJuly and August 2013 and June 2015, on at least 63 separate days, SMB
discharged effluent through SD003 with a CBOD greater than the daily maximum of 25 mg/L in
violation of the Permit.

82. In September and October 2013, SMB discharged effluent through SD009
containing fecal coliform greater than the 400 CFU/100 ml calendar month maximum in
violation of the Permit.

83. In October 2013, SMB discharged effluent through SD009 containing chloride
greater than the monthly average limit of 230 mg/l in violation of the Permit.

84.  Each one of SMB’s permit violations constitutes a violation of the CWA.

10
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85.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties pursuant to Section 309(d) of
the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, of up to $37,500
per day for each violation on and after January 13, 2009.

86.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties under Minn. Stat. § 115.071 of
up to $10,000 per day.

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Discharge of Untreated Wastewater through SD001)

87.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1-44 as if fully set
forth herein.

88. On August 13, 2013, SMB discharged untreated wastewater to County Ditch 37
through SDO001 in violation of its Permit.

89. Because County Ditch 37 flows to the West Fork of Beaver Creek, untreated
wastewater flowed into Beaver Creek.

90. As a result of this discharge, natural resources of the state were damaged,
including thousands of fish that were killed.

91.  This permit violation constitutes a violation of the CWA.

92.  This violation of the Permit is subject to penalties pursuant to Section 309(d) of
the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, of up to $37,500
per day for each violation on and after January 13, 2009,

93.  Each violation of the Permit is subject to penalties under Minn. Stat. § 115.071 of
up to $10,000 per day.

94.  The state is authorized to recover natural resource damages arising out of a
violation under Minn. Stat. § 115.071.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, based upon all of the allegations set forth above, the United States of

America and the State of Minnesota respectfully request that this Court:

11
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1. Permanently enjoin SMB from further violations of the CWA and applicable
requirements established thereunder, including violations of the Permit, pursuant to
Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b);

2. Require SMB to obtain and comply with all actions necessary to achieve and
maintain compliance with the CWA and applicable requirements established thereunder,
including the Permit, pursuant to Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b);

3. Assess civil penalties against SMB pursuant to Section 309(d) of the CWA, 33
U.S.C. § 1319(d), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, for the Permit violations set forth
in this Complaint;

4, Assess civil penalties against SMB pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 115.071 for the
Permit violations set forth in this Complaint;

5. Assess damages against SMB for injuries suffered to natural resources of the State
as provided under Minn. Stat. § 115.071 as a result of the August 2013 unpermitted discharge;

6. Award the United States of America and the State of Minnesota their costs and
disbursements for this action; and

7. Grant such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully Submitted,
FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

THOMAS A, MARIANI

Deputy Chief

Environmental Enforcement Section
Environment and Natural Resources Division

ey C Y Hogr
ALISON C. McGREGOR
Trial Attorney
Environmental Enforcement Section
Environment and Natural Resources Division
United States Department of Justice
P.O. Box 7611
Washington, DC 20044-7611
(202) 514-1491
alison.megregor@usdoi.gov

12
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OF COUNSEL:

CHARLES V. MIKALIAN
Associate Regional Counsel
U.S. EPA Region 5
77 W. Jackson Blvd
Chicago, IL 60604

ANDREW M. LUGER
United States Attorney
District of Minnesota

Tt 41 Sk

FRIEDRICH A.P. SIEKERT
Assistant United States Attorney
Attorney ID Number 142013
District of Minnesota

600 United States Courthouse
300 South Fourth Street
Minneapolis, MN 55415

(612) 664-5697
Fred.Siekert@usdoj.gov
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FOR THE STATE OF MINNESOTA:

. E COHEN

Assistant Attorney General
State of Minnesota

Atty. No. 0166777
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L.(c) Attorneys for Plaintiffs:

Alison C. McGregor

Trial Attorney

Environmental Enforcement Section
United States Department of Justice
P.O. Box 7611

Washington, D.C. 20044-7611
(202) 514-1491

alison.megregor@usdoj.gov

Friedrich A.P. Siekert

Assistant United States Attorney
Attorney ID Number 142013
District of Minnesota

600 United States Courthouse
300 South Fourth Street
Minneapolis, MN 55415

(612) 664-5697

fred.siekert@usdoj.gov
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